



HIV/AIDS AND ABORIGINAL PEOPLE: PROBLEMS OF JURISDICTION AND FUNDING

A DISCUSSION PAPER

prepared by STEFAN MATIATION

for the Canadian HIV/AIDS LEGAL NETWORK

MARCH 1998

TEL: (514) 451-5457 FAX: (514) 451-5134

email: info@aidslaw.ca

Published by the Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network

For further information about this publication, please contact:

Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network CP les Atriums 32018 Montréal, Québec H2L 4Y5

Tel: (514) 451-5457 Fax: (514) 451-5134 Website: www.aidslaw.ca

© HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN IN RIGHT OF CANADA (1998) as represented by the Minister of Health

HIV/AIDS AND ABORIGINAL PEOPLE: PROBLEMS OF JURISDICTION AND FUNDING

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	SUMMARY
A.	INTRODUCTION
1.	Background
2.	(2) Aboriginal People and Canada
B.	JURISDICTION
1.	Examples of Jurisdictional Problems
2.	Aboriginal People and Jurisdiction 5
	(1) Federal Legislative Power with Respect to Aboriginal People 6
	(2) Provincial Legislative Power with Respect to Aboriginal People 7
	(3) Section 35 and the Fiduciary Relationship 8
	(4) Aboriginal Governmental Powers
C.	HEALTH-CARE ISSUES
1.	Jurisdiction and Health Care
2.	Health Care and Aboriginal People: An Overview
3.	HIV/AIDS-Related Funding and Aboriginal People
4.	The Impact of Changes in Health Care and Health Transfer Initiatives on
	HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal People
	(1) Regionalization of Health Care
	(2) Health Transfer
D.	PROBLEMS CREATED BY JURISDICTIONAL DIVISIONS
1.	Funding Problems
••	(1) Adequacy of Funding
	(2) Sources of Funding 24

2.	Barriers to Coordination and Collaboration	
	(1) Divisions between Federal and Provincial Governments	26
	(2) Interdepartmental Barriers	
	(3) Divisions among Aboriginal People	28
E.	OVERCOMING JURISDICTIONAL BARRIERS	29
1.	Working Groups	30
2.	Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategies	
3.	Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network	
F.	Conclusions	21
	CONCLUSIONS	34
	BIBLIOGRAPHY	37
	APPENDIX: List of People Consulted	

SUMMARY

Background

In order to stimulate discussion about legal issues relating to HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal communities, the Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network is addressing three topics: (1) HIV/AIDS and discrimination; (2) problems of jurisdiction and funding; and (3) testing and confidentiality issues. This *Discussion Paper* deals with the second topic. From July to September 1997, consultations for the project were conducted with Aboriginal AIDS organizations, government agency representatives, and others working in the field of HIV/AIDS. In October 1997, a draft discussion paper was distributed for comments. To the extent possible, the comments received have been reflected and incorporated in the *Discussion Paper*.

Why Is This Discussion Paper Needed?

Statistics about cases of AIDS and the rate of HIV infection in the Aboriginal community suggest that HIV/AIDS is having a disproportionate impact on Aboriginal people and that the HIV epidemic among Aboriginal people shows no signs of abating. HIV/AIDS could have a devastating impact on First Nations, Métis and Inuit communities. Issues rooted in jurisdictional divisions hamper efforts to deal with this HIV/AIDS epidemic.

No group in Canada confronts jurisdictional divisions as much as Aboriginal people. The spread of HIV/AIDS within the Aboriginal community across jurisdictional boundaries has focused attention on the need to reduce the impact of these boundaries on the development and delivery of effective HIV/AIDS programs and services.

What Does the Discussion Paper Contain?

The Discussion Paper examines the issues raised for Aboriginal communities by the relationship between jurisdiction and HIV/AIDS programs and services, based on interviews with individuals working in the field of HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal people, and on research conducted by the author. A number of initiatives designed to overcome or reduce jurisdictional barriers are also discussed.

What Are the Issues?

The *Discussion Paper* begins with some background on federal and provincial jurisdiction with respect to Aboriginal people, followed by a discussion of jurisdiction, health care, and Aboriginal people.

Consultations conducted for the paper addressed a number of developments in health care that raise concerns for Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS. The Aboriginal community is undergoing a process of transition in health care, culture and politics. HIV/AIDS issues must be a priority during this process.

The following changes in health care are particularly relevant to HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal communities:

- the devolution of authority over health care to the provinces and territories and the regionalization within provinces and territories of health services; and
- the transfer by the federal government of authority over health services to First Nations and some Inuit communities. This transfer does not respond to the needs of off-reserve and non-status Indians; indeed, it is often detrimental to these groups.

The following issues relating to jurisdiction, HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal people were raised during the consultation process:

- funding problems, including the adequacy and sources of funding;
- the impact of divisions between federal and provincial/territorial governments on the development and delivery of coordinated and comprehensive HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal people;
- the impact of interdepartmental barriers on coordination and collaboration; and
- the impact of divisions within the Aboriginal community due to the legacy of imposed definitions and jurisdictional divisions.

What is the Goal of the Discussion Paper?

The paper does not provide definitive answers. In the end, answers to the issues raised must come from within Aboriginal communities. The goal is to provide information and identify problems related to jurisdiction, HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal people. It is hoped that the conclusions contained in the *Discussion Paper* will stimulate discussion about the issues raised and contribute to the development of solutions to the problems identified.

What Does the Discussion Paper Conclude?

The Discussion Paper contains nine broad conclusions, to the effect that:

- The devolution of authority over certain matters to the provinces, the development of self-government, and the transfer to First Nations of jurisdiction over health services, have a dramatic impact on the lives of Aboriginal people. During this period of transition, HIV/AIDS issues for all Aboriginal people, including status, non-status, on-reserve, off-reserve, Métis, First Nation and Inuit, need to be considered and addressed. Federal, provincial and territorial governments should recognize their responsibilities to all Aboriginal people in the implementation of a renewed relationship.
- During the process of regionalization of health services that has been adopted by many provinces and territories, and downsizing in health care, it is important that HIV/AIDS programs and services be uniformly and comprehensively available and that HIV/AIDS issues be a priority for regional health authorities.
- During the process of regionalization, it is also important that the interests of Aboriginal communities be respected and addressed.
- First Nations and Inuit health authornes operating under health transfer initiatives should be encouraged to make HIV/AIDS issues a priority in their communities.
- Funding levels for HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal people were seen
 to be inadequate by many of those consulted. Funding levels should be based on the
 actual expense associated with administering and delivering programs and services in
 Aboriginal communities, whether on or off reserve, and should reflect rising costs as
 more Aboriginal people become HIV-positive.
- Government HIV/AIDS funding agencies should make efforts to reduce the impact of jurisdictional barriers on Aboriginal HIV/AIDS program and service delivery. Aboriginal AIDS organizations should be encouraged to continue to share information and assist each other in accessing funds.
- Initiatives underway to improve collaboration and coordination between federal and
 provincial/territorial government agencies working in the field of HIV/AIDS, and
 between departments and branches within government bureaucracies dealing with
 Aboriginal issues, are encouraged. The value of these initiatives is reinforced by
 Aboriginal participation in discussion and decision-making.
- Following the example of Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia, each province and territory should support the development of comprehensive Aboriginal HIV/AIDS strategies. Among other things, such strategies should seek to overcome interprovincial and territorial differences in the availability of culturally appropriate HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal people.

• The Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network (CAAN) has an important role to play in overcoming jurisdictional problems in the area of Aboriginal people and HIV/AIDS, but requires long-term funding in order to continue its work. CAAN should be consulted as to the need for, and design of, a national Aboriginal HIV/AIDS strategy.

HIV/AIDS presents a challenge to federal, provincial, and territorial governments, and to First Nations, Métis, and Inuit governments and organizations: jurisdictional barriers must be overcome, as they frustrate the development of coordinated, collaborative and comprehensive HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal communities. In addition, the detrimental impact on HIV/AIDS and other health, social, economic and cultural services, of the artificial divisions imposed on Aboriginal people must be reduced.

Aboriginal AIDS organizations and Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS are experts in the development of HIV/AIDS programs and services. Governments and organizations should look to them for guidance in designing strategies to reduce the impact of HIV/AIDS on Aboriginal communities.

Next Steps

The Discussion Paper is intended to be a resource for Aboriginal and other HIV/AIDS organizations, Aboriginal governments, federal and provincial governments, policymakers, departments and agencies, non-governmental organizations, and others. The Paper will be widely distributed and made available on the Network's website. Articles based on the Paper will be published in the Canadian HIV/AIDS Policy & Law Newsletter and submitted for publication in other journals and newsletters. Fact sheets summarizing the Paper's most relevant information will be produced.

For Further Information ...

contact Ralf Jürgens, Project Manager, at (514) 451-5457; fax (514) 451-5134; email: info@aidslaw.ca; website: www.aidslaw.ca

Further copies of this Discussion Paper ...

can be retrieved at the website of the Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network at www.aidslaw.ca

Copies can also be ordered through the National AIDS Clearinghouse. For more information, contact:

National AIDS Clearinghouse Suite 400 1565 Carling Avenue Ottawa, Ontario K1Z 8R1 Tel: (613) 725-3434

Fax: (613) 725-9826 Email: aids/sida@cpha.ca

A. INTRODUCTION

The Canadian HIV/AIDS Legal Network is undertaking a project on legal issues relating to Aboriginal people and HIV/AIDS. The project involves the preparation of three discussion papers on: (1) HIV/AIDS and discrimination; (2) problems of jurisdiction and funding; and (3) testing and confidentiality issues. Funding for the project has been provided by the HIV/AIDS Policy, Coordination and Programs Division, Health Canada, under the National AIDS Strategy Phase II. This paper deals with the second of the three project topics.

In July, August and September 1997, consultations for the project were conducted with Aboriginal AIDS organizations, government agency representatives and others working in the field of HIV/AIDS. A list of persons consulted during the process of the paper appears in the Appendix. In October 1997, draft discussion papers were distributed for comments to over fifty individuals, including those listed in the Appendix and others working in the field of HIV/AIDS. An attempt has been made throughout the paper to reflect and incorporate the comments of those consulted.

Parts of this paper are based on an unpublished paper by Stefan Matiation for 2-Spirited Peoples of the 1st Nations (TPFN) entitled HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal Communities: Problems of Jurisdiction and Discrimination, prepared in connection with the Human Rights Internship Program of the University of Toronto's Faculty of Law.¹

1. Background

(1) HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal People

The Laboratory Centre for Disease Control (LCDC) reports that as of 23 October 1997, 249 of the 15,310 AIDS cases in Canada were reported as Aboriginal. Adjusted for reporting delays, the number of Aboriginal AIDS cases was estimated at 305 by the end of 1996, or 30.5 cases per 100,000 Aboriginal people. This number is regarded as underrepresentative of the true number of AIDS cases among Aboriginal people due to delays in reporting, low HIV testing rates, and variations in the completeness of reporting of ethnic status between the provinces (43% of reported cases lack ethnic data).²

LCDC estimates that "as of the end of 1996, a cumulative total of 50,000 to 54,000 Canadians had been infected with HIV since the onset of the epidemic and that at the end of

¹ Reviewed in the Canadian HIV/AIDS Policy and Law Newsletter 1996; 3(1): 1.

² Laboratory Centre for Disease Control. *Epi Update: HIV/AIDS Epidemiology Among Aboriginal People in Canada*. Ottawa: Health Canada, November 1997.

1996, 36,000 to 42,000 Canadians were living with HIV infection (including those living with AIDS)."³ The number of cases of HIV infection among Aboriginal people is largely unknown.

LCDC reports a number of statistics that suggest that "Aboriginal people are infected earlier than non-Aboriginal people, that injection drug use is an important mode of transmission, and that the HIV epidemic among Aboriginal people shows no signs of abating":⁴

- Aboriginal AIDS cases are younger on average than non-Aboriginal AIDS cases (29.7% versus 18.6% diagnosed at less than 30 years of age).
- Aboriginal AIDS cases are more likely than non-Aboriginal AIDS cases to be attributed to injection drug use (17.6% versus 3.1% for men, 54.0% versus 17.1% for women).
- The proportion of AIDS cases attributed to Aboriginal people increased from 1.5% before 1989 to 3.1% during 1989-92, and 5.6% during 1993-96.
- Recent information for British Columbia and Alberta indicates Aboriginal people comprise 15% to 26% of newly diagnosed HIV-positive cases.

LCDC reports that the proportion of women among adult Aboriginal AIDS cases is higher than among adult non-Aboriginal AIDS cases (15.1% versus 7.0%).⁵ In addition, Aboriginal people are over-represented with respect to many risk factors for HIV/AIDS, including: drug and alcohol use, high rates of STDs, teen pregnancies, general poor health conditions, and lower socioeconomic status. Aboriginal people are also overrepresented in groups at high risk for HIV infection including injection drug users and inmates in provincial and federal prisons.⁶

The foregoing data, and anecdotal evidence from many of the persons consulted, indicate that there is an HIV/AIDS epidemic among Aboriginal people in Canada that could have a devastating impact on First Nations, Métis, and Inuit communities.

³ LCDC. Epi Update: HIV and AIDS in Canada. Ottawa: Health Canada, November 1997.

⁴ Supra, note 2. Most Aboriginal AIDS cases are male. Of the 210 reported male Aboriginal AIDS cases, men who have sex with men accounts for 60% of them.

⁵ Thid.

⁶ Ibid. In some cities, 25% to 75% of clientele using inner-city services are Aboriginal. Fourteen percent of federal inmates in Canada are Aboriginal, with rates up to 40% in provincial or federal prisons in some provinces. STD rates in some regions populated predominantly by Aboriginal people are 5 to 10 times the national average.

(2) Aboriginal People and Canada

The historical relationship between Canada and First Nation and Inuit communities has been characterized largely by oppression, racism and colonialism. At the time of Confederation in 1867, authority over "Indians" was divided between federal and provincial governments in the same way as were property and control over hospitals. Since then, most Aboriginal people in Canada have lived under an imposed regime of legislated definitions and have been subjected to assimilationist pressures. This historical relationship has made Aboriginal people second class citizens in Canada in terms of health, economic, and social problems, and has thereby contributed to exacerbating the risk factors for HIV/AIDS.

Lately, there has been a resurgence of Aboriginal culture and community. Throughout this process, Aboriginal people and their leadership have argued forcefully for the recognition of Aboriginal rights, including the right to self-government, and for respect of Aboriginal traditions.

Although this is a period of transition and hope in Aboriginal communities, the legacy of years of oppression and racism remain. Aboriginal people continue to deal with a jurisdictional morass that can frustrate new initiatives and complicate the delivery of services. Jurisdictional issues arise frequently and in many forms for Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS and the organizations trying to assist them. HIV/AIDS does not respect the artificial boundaries used to divide the Aboriginal community.

2. Scope of the Paper⁷

The paper begins with a discussion of the constitutional division of powers as it affects Aboriginal people and the delivery of health services. Jurisdictional barriers have their roots in this division of powers and the way in which legislative authority has been exercised.

The discussion then shifts to consider some of the changes in health care in the last ten years, including regionalization and health transfer policies, and the impact of these changes on the provision of HIV/AIDS-related services to Aboriginal people.

Next, some problems created in the field of HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal people by jurisdictional divisions are identified, including funding problems, service gaps, and problems of coordination and collaboration.

⁷ In her written submission dated 19 December 1997, in response to the draft discussion paper, Noelle Spotton, Clinic Director at Aboriginal Legal Services in Toronto, asks for more information regarding Inuit, non-status and Métis people. It is an acknowledged weakness of this paper that HIV/AIDS issues for these groups have not been adequately discussed. While an effort has been made to include Inuit, non-status and Métis people, each has unique concerns that could be better addressed in separate papers.

The final section of the paper identifies a number of initiatives currently underway that seek to overcome jurisdictional barriers to the delivery of comprehensive, coordinated and collaborative HIV/AIDS services and programs for Aboriginal people.

B. JURISDICTION

No other group in Canada has confronted jurisdictional issues or the effects of jurisdictional divisions as much as Aboriginal people. With respect to no other group is the line dividing jurisdictional responsibilities as unclear.

This section begins with a number of examples that reflect the impact that jurisdictional divisions can have on Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS. The rest of the section describes the relationship between federal and provincial legislative powers with respect to Aboriginal people, the relationship between Aboriginal rights and federal and provincial powers and responsibilities, and the development of Aboriginal self-government. This provides some background to the discussion of the impact of jurisdiction on HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal people.

1. Examples of Jurisdictional Problems

The following examples drawn from the consultations for this paper reflect some of the ways in which jurisdictional divisions affect Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS:

An Aboriginal man with AIDS decided to return to his community to die. He required assistance to get around and to avoid health complications. Despite being aware of his intention to return home, the urban AIDS agency that had been assisting the man did not contact health-care workers in his home community in advance of his arrival to discuss his needs.

Too little funding is available through the Medical Services Branch of Health Canada (MSB) to assist a band to provide effective services. Bands in Atlantic Canada have pooled these funds in order to support the Atlantic First Nations AIDS Task Force. Some other bands misuse HIV/AIDS funding to cover unrelated expenses.

Many Aboriginal people living with HIV/AIDS do not have access to an Aboriginal AIDS organization. There are no Aboriginal AIDS organizations in a number of cities with significant Aboriginal populations, including

Ottawa, Calgary and Saskatoon. Some Aboriginal AIDS organizations are seriously underfunded.

There is limited coordination of activities between departments of the federal government, despite the fact that a number of different departments provide services to Aboriginal people. While on-reserve education is provided by Indian and Northern Affairs Canada, HIV/AIDS education funding is administered by various branches of Health Canada.

MSB supports HIV/AIDS-related services for Aboriginal people living on reserve and for Inuit people in Labrador but not for Inuit people in the Northwest Territories. This contributes to HIV/AIDS funding difficulties in the North.

Despite the high mobility of Aboriginal people and the historic relationship between the federal government and First Nations, the federal government continues to divide and limit most Aboriginal services in accordance with reserve boundaries. There is often a lack of coordination of activities between federal and provincial policy makers to shore up the policy vacuum created by divided jurisdictions. The needs of non-status and Métis people are often ignored.

2. Aboriginal People and Jurisdiction

"Jurisdiction" means the legal authority of one order of government to legislate with respect to a subject matter. Constitutional law spells out the relationship between the orders of government and the rules of interpretation applicable to the division of powers. Sections 91 and 92 of the *Constitution Act*, 1867⁸ distribute the legislative powers of the federal and provincial orders of government in Canada. The process leading toward the development of Aboriginal self-government introduces a third order of government into the constitutional framework.

The issue of jurisdiction with respect to Aboriginal people in Canada is complicated. It does not end with ss 91 and 92 and the rules of constitutional law, but involves the *Royal Proclamation*, 1763, the historical relationship between the Crown and First Nations, treaties and land claims agreements, the *Indian Act*, ss 25 and 35 of the *Constitution Act*, 1982, the

⁸ Constitution Act, 1867 (UK), 30 & 31 Vict c 3.

⁹ Royal Proclamation, 1763, RSC 1985, App II, No 1.

¹⁰ Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (UK), 1982, c 11.

concept of fiduciary duty, judicial decisions, and the transition to self-government. It is beyond the scope of this paper to discuss all of these matters. ¹¹ Instead, the following section describes the powers and responsibilities of the orders of government with respect to Aboriginal people in order to provide a background to the discussion of the impact of jurisdiction on HIV/AIDS issues.

(1) Federal Legislative Power with Respect to Aboriginal People

Section 91(24) of the Constitution Act, 1867 provides that the "exclusive Legislative Authority" of the federal government extends to "Indians and Lands reserved for the Indians." Although the term "Indians" has been interpreted to include Inuit¹³ and probably includes Métis and non-status Indians, ¹⁴ these groups are excluded from the *Indian Act* definition of status Indian. The federal government "has continued to resist arguments that Métis people are included within the scope of section 91(24), despite their inclusion in s. 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982." It has generally been the position of the federal government that it may choose whether to exercise its jurisdiction. Accordingly, with some exceptions, the federal government has focused its activities on status Indians living on reserve and some Inuit communities.

Despite the federal policy to limit the use of its legislative powers with respect to Indians and lands reserved for the Indians, Parliament "has taken the broad view that it may legislate for Indians on matters which otherwise lie outside its legislative competence, and on which it

¹¹ See Peter Hogg. Constitutional Law of Canada, 3d ed. Toronto: Carswell, 1992; and Peter Hogg and Mary Ellen Turpel. Implementing Aboriginal Self-Government: Constitutional and Jurisdictional Issues. Canadian Bar Review 1995; 74(2): 187-224, for a more detailed legal analysis of jurisdiction and Aboriginal people. I have relied heavily on Hogg, Constitutional Law of Canada, for this section of the paper.

¹² Supra, note 8 at s 91(24). Hogg notes that s 91(24) includes two heads of power: a power over "Indians," which may be exercised over Indians whether or not they have any connection with reserve lands, and a power over "lands reserved for the Indians," which may be exercised in respect of Indians and non-Indians so long as the law relates to lands reserved for the Indians. Lands reserved for the Indians includes Indian reserves and "may extend to all land that is subject to unextinguished aboriginal title." Hogg, supra, note 11 at 27-2.

¹³ Re Eskimos, [1939] 2 DLR 417 (SCC).

¹⁴ Hogg, supra, note 11 at 27-4.

¹⁵ Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. *Final Report*, 5 volumes. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services, 1996, vol 4 at 539.

¹⁶ Ibid at 541. Hogg argues: "The Parliament is, of course, under no obligation to legislate to the full limit of its statutory authority, and, with respect to Indians, it has certainly not done so." See supra, note 14 at 27-4.

could not legislate for non-Indians."¹⁷ For example, although education is a matter of provincial jurisdiction, the *Indian Act* includes provisions respecting the education of status Indians ordinarily resident on reserve.¹⁸

In short, Parliament has generally exercised the full weight of its constitutional powers over "Indians" while taking a narrow view of its historically based responsibilities to all Aboriginal people, including on-reserve, off-reserve, status, non-status, Métis, and Inuit communities.

(2) Provincial Legislative Power with Respect to Aboriginal People

Provincial laws of general application apply to "Indians and lands reserved for the Indians." A provincial legislature can make a law apply to Aboriginal persons whether they live on or off reserve so long as the law is in relation to a matter falling under a provincial head of power.

Five exceptions to the general rule are:19

- (1) A provincial law may not single out Indians or reserves for special treatment.
- (2) A provincial law cannot affect aboriginal or treaty rights nor can it affect Indian status.
- (3) A provincial law that is inconsistent with a federal law such as the *Indian Act* is rendered inoperative by the doctrine of federal paramountcy.²⁰
- (4) Provincial laws cannot deprive Indians of the right to hunt or fish for food which is protected by the Natural Resources Agreements in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba.
- (5) Provincial and federal laws are subject to s 35 of the Constitution, 1982.

Section 88 of the *Indian Act* adds to the breadth of provincial laws applicable to Indians. In *Dick v The Oueen*, the Supreme Court of Canada held that s 88 applies to provincial laws that

¹⁷ Supra, note 14 at 27-4.

¹⁸ Indian Act RSC 1985, c I-5, ss 114-122.

¹⁹ From supra, note 14 at 27-10 to 27-12.

²⁰ "Federal paramountcy" is a doctrine of little practical effect. In order for a provincial law to be struck down the legislation at issue must be directly inconsistent with federal law. A provincial statute establishing one level of minimum wage, for example, is not invalid simply because a federal law imposes a different level, even where the employer is the federal government. Example from Hogg, supra, note 11.

affect Indianness by impairing the status or capacity of Indians. Writing for the majority, Beetz J held that these are the only laws to which s 88 needs to apply because these are the provincial laws that cannot apply of their own force. Beetz J used the example of traffic legislation as provincial laws that apply to Indians of their own force. Provincial hunting laws that impair the status or capacity of Indians might still apply by virtue of s 88, although such laws would be subject to s 35.²¹

Before Dick v The Queen, it was thought that s 88 was simply declarative of the general rule. On the contrary, s 88 expands the body of provincial laws applicable to "Indians and lands reserved for the Indians."

The scope of s 88 is limited by several exceptions similar to those affecting the general rule discussed above: s 88 is subject to the doctrine of federal paramountcy, to the terms of any treaty, to the Natural Resources Agreements, and to s 35.

(3) Section 35 and the Fiduciary Relationship

Section 35(1) of the Constitution Act, 1982 provides that:

The existing aboriginal and treaty rights of the aboriginal peoples of Canada are hereby recognized and affirmed.²²

Treaty rights are rights created by treaties entered into by the Crown with First Nations or bands "and perhaps" rights created by provisions of international treaties.²³ Aboriginal rights are grounded in the traditions of First Nations.

A test for identifying Aboriginal rights has recently been articulated by the Supreme Court of Canada in R v Van der Peet as follows:

²¹ See Hogg, supra, note 14 at 27-14. See also *Dick v The Queen*, [1985] 2 SCR 309. Followed in subsequent cases, including *Derrickson v Derrickson*, [1986] 1 SCR 285; *R. v Francis*, [1988] 1 SCR 1025.

²² Supra, note 10 at s 35(1). Section 35 exists outside the Charter and is therefore not subject to the legislative override provided by s 33 (the notwithstanding clause) or to "such reasonable limits prescribed by law as can be demonstrably justified in a free and democratic society," as specified by s 1; nor are the rights effective only against governmental action, as stipulated by s 32. Section 35 rights are not enforceable pursuant to s 24 of the Charter, but can be used as a defence.

²³ Supra, note 11 at 27-8.

[I]n order to be an aboriginal right an activity must be an element of a tradition, custom or practice integral to the distinctive culture of the aboriginal group claiming the right.²⁴

Section 35 protects unextinguished Aboriginal and treaty rights existing in 1982, and treaty rights that may be acquired after 1982. This means that an Aboriginal or treaty right existing before 1982 could only be extinguished by clear and plain language to that effect. Aboriginal and treaty rights existing as of 1982, and treaty rights acquired after 1982, are protected from unjustified curtailment by federal or provincial legislation by s 35.25 "The effect of s.35 is that aboriginal and treaty rights can only be extinguished in two ways: (1) by (voluntary) surrender and (2) by constitutional amendment."²⁶

Further, the fiduciary duty of the Crown (the federal Parliament and provincial legislatures) toward Aboriginal people is constitutionally guaranteed.²⁷ This unique fiduciary duty is grounded in the historic relationship of the Crown and First Nations. This relationship began with the arrival of Europeans to a territory already occupied by self-governing Nations and was subsequently shaped by the *Royal Proclamation*, 1763, which recognized that the Aboriginal people of North America own their lands until voluntarily surrendered.²⁸ The historical relationship has also been defined by treaties, by the Constitution and by the policies of federal and provincial governments, among other things.

The entrenchment of the fiduciary relationship through the enactment of s 35 limits federal and provincial legislative powers. While the legislative authority of the Crown mandates legislation affecting Aboriginal people, Crown responsibility requires that any infringement upon Aboriginal or treaty rights be stringently justified.

²⁴ [1996] 4 CNLR 177 (SCC), quoted in R v Pamajewan, [1996] 4 CNLR 164 at 171.

²⁵ Sparrow v R, [1990] 1 SCR 1075.

²⁶ Supra, note 11 at 27-30.

²⁷ Supra, note 11 at 27-29. There is some dispute whether the fiduciary duty is binding upon provincial legislatures. Saying "There's only so much the federal government can do by itself," Georges Erasmus, cochair of RCAP, recently called on the provinces to recognize their responsibilities and contribute more to Aboriginal programs and services. This was reported on the same day that the federal government committed \$350 million to on-reserve issues and \$350 million to a healing fund for people adversely affected by residential schools. While these federal initiatives are laudable, they suggest a federal emphasis on reserve issues. (Reported by the Canadian Press in *Thunder Bay Chronicle-Herald* 7 January 1998.) Erasmus's comments address the policy vacuum experienced by Aboriginal people living off reserve. The reluctance of the federal government to recognize its fiduciary responsibilities toward Aboriginal people living off reserve and the failure of provincial governments to recognize any fiduciary obligations to Aboriginal people contribut to jurisdictional problems for Aboriginal people living with HIV/AIDS.

²⁸ Supra, note 9.

(4) Aboriginal Governmental Powers

It is the position of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples (RCAP) that among the Aboriginal rights recognized and affirmed by s 35 is the inherent right to self-government.²⁹ The government of Canada has adopted this approach in its policy statement on self-government.³⁰ It is also the federal government's policy that the implementation of self-government will change the nature of the relationship between the federal government and First Nations:

There is no justifiable basis for the Government to retain fiduciary obligations in relation to subject matters over which it has relinquished its control and over which an Aboriginal government or institution has, correspondingly, assumed control.³¹

This view does not seem reflective of mutual recognition, mutual respect, sharing, and mutual responsibility, the fundamental principles of a renewed relationship as described in the RCAP *Final Report*. RCAP discusses the fiduciary relationship in terms of a political and constitutional partnership that involves shared responsibility between the parties. The ideal suggested by RCAP is that this partnership be based on respect and recognition of the mutual vulnerability of the parties, giving rise to mutual obligations in a trust-like relationship.³² The government's view, as suggested by the above quote, reflects an interpretation of the fiduciary relationship based on notions of guardian and ward.

Evolving Aboriginal governments are negotiating jurisdiction over such subject matters as health, education and policing. Health transfer agreements, discussed further below, are part of this process.

²⁹ See RCAP Final Report, supra, note 15; and RCAP. Partners in Confederation. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services, 1993.

³⁰ Aboriginal Self-Government: The Government of Canada's Approach to Implementation of the Inherent Right and the Negotiation of Aboriginal Self-Government. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada, 1995.

³¹ Ibid at 14.

³² Supra, note 15, vol 1 at 689.

C. Health-Care Issues

In its Final Report, RCAP states that

despite the extension of medical and social services (in some form) to every Aboriginal community, and despite large sums spent by Canadian governments to provide services, Aboriginal people still suffer from unacceptable rates of illness and distress.³³

For most of the twentieth century, Aboriginal people were subjected to Western-style health-care services. Although this system helped lower mortality rates in Aboriginal communities, its benefits did not come without a price: Aboriginal people were often sent, unaccompanied, to distant medical facilities, traditional health-care practices were devalued and often lost, and "Aboriginal people learned that they were not in charge." 34

More recently, Aboriginal people have begun to play a leading role in the delivery and development of health-care services, and traditional practices are regaining prominence. Nonetheless, the legacy of ill-health remains and contributes to a higher risk for HIV infection among Aboriginal people.

This section describes how jurisdiction relates to the delivery of health care services to Aboriginal people, particularly in the area of HIV/AIDS, and examines how changes in health care may affect Aboriginal HIV/AIDS programs and services.

1. Jurisdiction and Health Care

"Health" is an amorphous topic under the Constitution; that is, it is not specifically assigned to one level of government.³⁵ Health involves criminal aspects, local aspects, labour issues, and national emergency issues as well as Aboriginal aspects. The power to legislate with respect to health issues is divided between provincial and federal governments according to the impact of an issue on the constitutional heads of power. For example, ss 92(16) and 92(7) of the Constitution Act, 1867 confer on provincial legislatures authority over public health and the provision of health services as a local or private matter and over the establishment and

³³ Ibid, vol 3 at 119.

³⁴ Ibid, vol 3 at 114.

³⁵ Supra, note 11 at 18-4.

management of hospitals.³⁶ At the same time, the federal government has exercised authority over the health of Aboriginal people living on reserve under s 91(24).³⁷

Through its spending power, the federal Parliament has traditionally exercised a great deal of power outside its explicit area of jurisdiction. In health care, federal governments have been able to influence the health system through conditional federal grants to establish cost-shared programs such as insured health services. In 1996 the current government moved away from this model by replacing Canada Assistance Plan and Established Program Funding transfers with the Canada Health and Social Transfer (CHST) program. "The CHST is the federal contribution to provincial health and social programs."

The new program provides the provinces with an annual federal grant and reduces the role of Parliament in establishing national standards. The CHST imposes conditions, in that the provinces must comply with the *Canada Health Act*, which sets out the federal government's health-care policy, and must not set minimum residency requirements for social assistance. However, the federal transfer is a fixed amount that is not based on a formula reflecting actual health-care costs. "This means that provinces have a greater incentive to control their costs, and the federal government has no interest in controlling or auditing provincial expenditures." "39

2. Health Care and Aboriginal People: An Overview

Federal and provincial governments support an array of services related to Aboriginal health care. Most First Nations and Inuit communities in Canada are assuming more responsibility and control over health services through various forms of transfer agreements. What follows is a brief overview of the major components of Aboriginal health services. Transfer initiatives are discussed below under the heading "Health Transfer."

Reserves and some Inuit communities benefit from targeted health and social service funding from the federal government. The federal government supports the following services for Aboriginal people living on reserve and some Inuit communities, primarily through the Medical Services Branch of Health Canada (MSB):

³⁶ Supra, note 8 at ss 92(7) and 92(16).

³⁷ Ibid at s 91(24).

³⁸ Supra, note 11 at 6-11.

³⁹ Ibid at 6-12.

- (1) Health stations with nurses "working in the expanded role." These stations are generally not overnight facilities but provide fairly extensive outpatient health services. They are generally found in remote communities.
- (2) Health centres providing public health services. These facilities are generally found in small communities or more settled areas where more extensive facilities exist nearby.
- (3) Community Health Representatives (CHRs) are found in virtually all reserve and some Inuit communities. CHRs are members of the community trained to provide a combination of primary care, public health and health promotion services. The work of CHRs is complimented by the National Native Alcohol and Drug Abuse Program, which supports trained addiction counsellors in most reserve and Inuit communities.⁴⁰

"The federal government also supports some [fifty] residential treatment centres and seven hospitals scattered across the provinces, providing services almost exclusively to First Nations and Inuit patients."

Pursuant to the constitutional division of powers, the provinces are responsible for hospital services and medical professionals working with Aboriginal people. These services are used by First Nations people living on and off reserve. Further, several provincial governments have developed initiatives focused on Aboriginal communities. In Ontario, for example, the Aboriginal Healing and Wellness Policy was announced in June 1994. The Policy supports a number of healing lodges and Aboriginal health centres throughout the province. Services will be provided to Aboriginal people on a status-blind basis.

For the most part, Aboriginal people living off reserve do not benefit from the health services supported by MSB for reserve communities and must rely on provincially funded services. One exception is the Non-Insured Health Benefits program (NIHB), which reimburses Aboriginal residents of Canada who are registered Indians or recognized Inuit or Innu for some medical, dental and prescription drug expenses. In order to be eligible, these expenses must not be covered by provincial or territorial health insurance, insurance available through employment, or private insurance policies. The program is not available to non-status Indians or Métis people.

⁴⁰ Personal communication with Judith Ross, Director, Health Programs Support Division, Medical Services Branch, 5 August 1997.

⁴¹ Supra, note 15, vol 3 at 247.

⁴² The Policy is discussed in supra, note 15, vol 3 at 251.

3. HIV/AIDS-Related Funding and Aboriginal People

Federal funding for HIV/AIDS projects in Canada presently flows through Phase II of the National AIDS Strategy (NAS). In 1990, seven years after the human immunodeficiency virus was identified, the federal government committed \$112 million to Phase I of NAS. Phase II of NAS was approved in 1993 as a five year initiative involving \$211 million, ending in March 1998.

In July 1997, the Minister of Health announced the government's intention to renew a national HIV/AIDS strategy based on a consultation process involving a broad range of national stakeholders. A press conference concerning the renewed National AIDS Strategy was held on 1 December 1997, World AIDS Day. Phase III of NAS involves a commitment of \$42.2 million per year for five years (a total of \$211 million), beginning 1 April 1998. 43

The following goals for Phase III have been announced:

- to prevent the spread of AIDS;
- to find and provide effective vaccines, drugs and therapies;
- to find a cure;
- to ensure treatment, care and support for people living with HIV/AIDS, their caregivers, families and friends;
- to minimize the adverse impact of HIV/AIDS on individuals and communities; and

to get at the social and the economic factors that increase the risk of infection.⁴⁴

Presently, two branches of Health Canada receive HIV/AIDS funding through Phase II of NAS: the Health Protection and Promotion Branch (HPPB) and MSB. HIV/AIDS responsibility centres within these branches include the HIV/AIDS Prevention and Community Action Programs (PCAP), the HIV/AIDS Care, Treatment and Support Program (CTSP), the Bureau of HIV/AIDS and STD of LCDC (Bureau of HIV/AIDS), and the On Reserve Community Based HIV/AIDS Program of MSB. Most HIV/AIDS funding for Aboriginal people living on reserve is provided through MSB, while NAS Phase II funding for off-reserve Aboriginal HIV/AIDS projects flows through PCAP and CTSP.

PCAP was created in 1995-96 through the amalgamation of the AIDS Education and Prevention Unit and the AIDS Community Action Program (ACAP). The AIDS Prevention

⁴³ Based on Health Canada press release 1997-66, dated 1 December 1997 and on a personal communication on 29 December 1997 with Martin Méthot, Policy Advisor with Health Canada.

⁴⁴ From the speaking notes of Allan Rock, Minister of Health, for his World AIDS Day press conference at the 519 Community Centre in Toronto on 1 December 1997.

Program under PCAP supports "national education and prevention strategies aimed at population groups that are most vulnerable to HIV/AIDS, promotes the development of more supportive social environments to enhance equity and human rights, and reduces barriers to prevention information and resources."

ACAP provides project and operational funding for community-based HIV/AIDS initiatives. ACAP will not provide funding for activities falling under provincial jurisdiction or other federal jurisdictions, research (except when done as a support to program delivery), ongoing operating and administrative costs of organizations, or capital expenditures. ACAP funding is not available for on-reserve HIV/AIDS projects. Albert McLeod, Executive Director of the Manitoba Aboriginal AIDS Task Force, notes that, despite some problems with the program, ACAP has been an important source of funds for the development of Aboriginal HIV/AIDS organizations. The development of Aboriginal HIV/AIDS organizations.

CTSP provides direct funding to "projects that will improve the quality of life of people with HIV/AIDS, their families, partners and friends." A number of initiatives for Aboriginal people have been supported through CTSP funding, including the National Inuit HIV/AIDS and STDs Training Workshop in 1995, the Care and Treatment Manual for Aboriginal Health Care Professionals in 1994-95, and the Aboriginal Palliative Care Guide, a current project undertaken with TPFN involving \$160,000 from CTSP and \$20,000 from MSB.⁴⁹

The Bureau of HIV/AIDS has provided funding for HIV epidemiological and surveillance studies among Aboriginal people. The funding has been available for on- and off-reserve HIV/AIDS projects.⁵⁰

MSB's mandate is to provide health services to First Nations people living on reserve and to some Inuit communities. An estimated \$5.3 million was committed to MSB through Phase I of NAS for HIV/AIDS-related work for First Nations people under the MSB mandate.

⁴⁵ National AIDS Strategy Phase II. *Progress Report 1995-96*. Ottawa: Health and Welfare Canada, 1996, at 12.

⁴⁶ AIDS Community Action Program. Funding Guidelines. Ottawa: Health Canada, undated.

⁴⁷ Personal communication with Albert McLeod, 24 July 1997.

⁴⁸ Supra, note 45 at 95-96.

^{*} Albert McLeod. Aboriginal Communities and HIV/AIDS. A joint project with the Canadian AIDS Society and the Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network: Final Report. Ottawa: Canadian AIDS Society, 1997, at 7. Information respecting the Palliative Care Guide from personal communication with Janet Dunbrack, Program Consultant, Health Protection and Programs Branch, Health Canada, 10 December 1997.

⁵⁰ From the written submission by Mai Nguyen, Research Analyst with the Bureau of HIV/AIDS and STD of LCDC, dated 22 December 1997, in response to the draft discussion paper.

Another \$12 million has been committed to MSB to the end of Phase II.⁵¹ The allocation of NAS funds covers contribution amounts for HIV/AIDS activities in First Nations communities, as well as HIV/AIDS program spending expenses at MSB headquarters and MSB regional offices.⁵²

The allocation of funds through Phase III of NAS for HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal people has not yet been finalized. However, the need for programs addressing Aboriginal communities has been firmly recognized by the federal government. At his press conference of 1 December 1997, the Minister of Health announced that a focus on Aboriginal communities will be a strategic element of the renewed Strategy.⁵³ Kevin Barlow, National Coordinator of the Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network (CAAN), advises that Health Canada has suggested committing \$3.8 million per year to Aboriginal HIV/AIDS issues. CAAN has concerns about the distribution of these funds between the branches of Health Canada proposed by the Department, and has requested that \$3.2 million be distributed in accordance with CAAN's recommendations.⁵⁴ The issue of distribution of funds between the branches of Health Canada is important due to the distinct jurisdictional mandates of the branches.

In addition to federal funding, each province and territory has designated HIV/AIDS funding, some of which is available to community-based organizations. The extent of provincial/territorial funding varies widely across the country. With some exceptions, this funding is not available for on-reserve initiatives.

4. The Impact of Changes in Health Care and Health Transfer Initiatives on HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal People

Two components of the litany of changes in health care currently underway in Canada were seen by many people as particularly threatening to the implementation of effective HIV/AIDS programs for Aboriginal people: the regionalization of health services and health transfer initiatives.

⁵¹ First Nations Health Commission. Bridging the Gap. Ottawa: Assembly of First Nations, 1994, at 4.

⁵² From written submissions regarding the draft discussion paper submitted on behalf of Health Canada by Isabel Romero, HIV/AIDS Consultation Secretariat, dated 11 December 1997.

⁵³ Supra, note 44.

⁵⁴ Personal communication with Kevin Barlow, 19 December 1997.

(1) Regionalization of Health Care

The introduction by the federal government of the CHST represents a considerable shift in power over the administration of health-care services to the provinces. As discussed above, how the federal contribution to health and social programs is managed by the provinces is no longer of concern to the federal government because the federal contribution is not based on actual costs incurred by the system. So long as the minimal standards of the *Canada Health Act* are satisfied and no residency requirements are imposed, the provinces do not have to account to Parliament. The legislation implementing the CHST goes so far as to specify that the federal government may not impose any additional conditions on the transfer without first consulting provincial governments.⁵⁵

The decentralization of authority is also reflected in the regionalization of the administration of health services within a number of provinces and territories. One person consulted for this paper suggested that the regionalization of health services raises jurisdictional issues in a new way; that is, within the provinces and between regional health boards. It is unclear what effect the creation of regional health boards will have on health services for Aboriginal people. At the very least, such a division adds another dimension to an already complex jurisdictional landscape.

It should be noted that devolution in the management of health services has been accompanied by downsizing in health care. A consensus seems to be emerging among provincial governments that establishing regional boards will diminish the overall costs of the health-care system.

Kevin Barlow notes that federal and provincial downsizing and regionalization may result in the disintegration of coordination in HIV/AIDS services and in diminished health-care standards. ⁵⁶ Denise Lambert, Community Educator and a Project Coordinator of the Alberta Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy, adds that perpetual reorganizations in health administration are an additional destabilizing element in health care. ⁵⁷

Regionalization can have a positive impact on Aboriginal control over health. In a study of a dispute between the Baffin Health Board and the Health Minister of the Northwest Territories, O'Neill suggests that the Baffin Board has the potential to implement health policies and programs that reflect the interests and culture of the largely Inuit community it represents. The study reveals, however, that at least in the early stages of regionalization in

⁵⁵ Supra, note 11 at 6-13 to 6-14.

⁵⁶ Personal communication with Kevin Barlow, 23 July 1997.

⁵⁷ Personal communication with Denise Lambert, 19 August 1997.

the Territories, the Minister of Health was not prepared to devolve real fiscal control and culturally based health planning to the Baffin Board.⁵⁸

Enthusiasm for the benefits of regionalization based on the Baffin Board example must be tempered by the fact that the Board is unique in that it represents a largely Inuit population. Where health boards cover regions with a smaller First Nations or Inuit population, it is less likely that their concerns will be a priority.

The example of health-care changes in Thompson, a town of 15,000 in northern Manitoba with a large Aboriginal population, illustrates how regionalization can be positive. Catherine Spence, Project Coordinator of the Thompson AIDS Project, notes that health-care services in the town are undergoing a variety of changes including hospital restructuring, the creation of a regional health board, and ongoing health transfer agreements with First Nations communities in the Thompson region. The introduction of HIV/AIDS issues into the dialogue respecting these changes through the work of the Thompson AIDS Project and its supporters in the community has made HIV/AIDS a priority.

Spence suggests that a number of factors have coalesced to create a positive environment for HIV/AIDS discussion, including an influx of medical personnel with HIV experience, the realization by First Nations of the potential impact of HIV on their communities, and a one-year HIV education blitz by local CHRs. ⁵⁹

The Thompson example suggests that the existence of an HIV/AIDS project to raise the profile of HIV issues at the right time is helpful in developing positive community responses during a period of transition in health services. As most of the factors identified in Thompson will not be present in every community, however, the approach of the Manitoba Ministry of Health seems appropriate. The Ministry will maintain centralized HIV/AIDS funding administered by a provincial AIDS program coordinator despite the regionalization of health services in the province. As has been suggested by others consulted for this paper, it is difficult to believe that regional health boards will make HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal health issues a priority.

³⁸ The study is discussed in John D O'Neill. Regional Health Boards and the Democratization of Health Care in the Northwest Territories. *Circumpolar Health 90: Proceedings of the 8th International Congress on Circumpolar Health*. Brian D Postl et al, eds. Winnipeg: University of Manitoba Press, 1991), at 50-53.

⁵⁹ Personal communication with Catherine Spence, 9 September 1997.

⁶⁰ Thid.

(2) Health Transfer

In 1986 Health Canada introduced the Indian Health Transfer Policy, designed to transfer administrative authority for community health services to First Nations communities in the provinces. First Nations and Inuit communities in the Territories have been involved in a transfer process as well, in the form of the creation of regional health boards. The transfer policy follows on an earlier initiative implemented in the 1970s through the James Bay and Northern Québec Agreement, which created health boards representing Cree and Inuit communities in Northern Québec.

The RCAP Commissioners note that health transfer initiatives "promise to provide opportunities for Aboriginal communities to assume greater responsibility for developing health services and programs at the community and regional levels." Many First Nations and Inuit communities have embraced health transfer and most are involved in the process to varying degrees. MSB staff note that transfer takes many forms. Administrative control over specific programs, for example diabetes or substance abuse, may be transferred at different times and different rates. 62

Transfer communities are provided global funding within which they set the priorities ("envelope" funding). There are no national standards, but bands must comply with provincial laws of general application. For example, in Ontario a transfer community must comply with the provisions of the provincial *Health Protection and Promotion Act*. MSB headquarters in Ottawa is not involved in overseeing transfer communities, such communities being dealt with on a regional level. Funding available for transfer is capped to reflect current funding levels.

Aboriginal AIDS organizations and health experts have raised concerns about the envelope system of funding. In response to concerns raised by the MSB HIV/AIDS Focus Group and others, MSB has decided to designate funding for HIV/AIDS instead of including such funding in the health envelope. MSB currently has \$2.5 million in designated HIV/AIDS funding to be allocated to First Nations in accordance with a formula based on a number of factors, including remoteness and population. Further, MSB proposes that these funds be subject to a co-management agreement between MSB and the First Nations. Despite the fact that funds will be designated for HIV/AIDS, it is important to bear in mind that First Nations are under no obligation to use the funds in any particular way. In the end, how health dollars are used by First Nations is up to band councils.

⁶¹ Supra, note 15, vol 3 at 250.

⁶² Supra, note 40.

⁶³ Ibid.

Despite the scope of change encompassed by transfer agreements, little coordination of information or evaluation of the variety of different initiatives undertaken exists. The Assembly of First Nations (AFN) notes that "independent analysis and internal dialogue between First Nations on [health transfer and self-government] is long overdue."

A number of concerns have been raised about the health transfer policy. It has been suggested that health transfer is "designed to achieve the federal government's goals of reducing spending on health and social services, abdicating legal and fiduciary responsibility for the delivery of health care services to First Nations, denying treaty rights or rights flowing from Aboriginal title, and ultimately, assimilating First Nations."

It would appear that at least the first three goals on this list may well be accomplished through health transfer: federal spending will likely be reduced; it is the government's policy that a transfer of authority to First Nations results in a decline in federal fiduciary responsibilities;⁶⁶ and it is government policy that health services are not part of treaty or Aboriginal rights.⁶⁷

Concerns have also been raised that transfer to First Nations increases the policy vacuum experienced by Aboriginal people living off reserves. One person consulted for this paper argued that transfer initiatives that ignore off-reserve problems will increase divisions between on- and off-reserve Aboriginal people. This is particularly important for Aboriginal people living with HIV/AIDS, as most presently live in cities. It appears to be the policy of the federal government that unless an Aboriginal person is a status Indian living on a reserve, s/he is not an Indian for the purposes of most programs and funding directed to Aboriginal people. Noelle Spotton, Clinic Director at Aboriginal Legal Services in Toronto, suggests that this problem is occurring with increasing frequency and is in keeping with the divisive assimilationist policies practised since the enactment of the first *Indian Act*. 69

⁶⁴ First Nations Health Secretariat. *Background Paper for the 18th Annual General Assembly*. Ottawa: Assembly of First Nations, July 1997, at 4. A lack of internal dialogue may reflect the breakdown in relations between some First Nations and the AFN over the last few years. It has been suggested that this results from a "divide and conquer" policy on the part of the federal government.

⁶⁵ Dara Culhane Speck. The Indian Health Transfer Policy: A Step in the Right Direction of Revenge of the Hidden Agenda? *Native Studies Review* 1989; 5(1): 187.

⁶⁶ Supra, note 30 at 12.

⁶⁷ Supra, note 15, vol 3 at 251. Here RCAP describes the Manitoba Framework Agreement on Health as being stalled on the issue of the treaty right to health.

⁶⁸ RCAP calls jurisdiction the number one problem for Aboriginal people living in urban centres. See RCAP. Aboriginal Peoples in Urban Centres: Report of the National Round Table on Urban Aboriginal Issues. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada, 1993, at 17.

⁶⁹ Supra, note 7.

Further, transfer of program administration to bands will reduce the portability of health rights, to the limited extent that such rights are recognized by the federal government. Downloading of the NIHB program particularly raises concerns for off-reserve Aboriginal people generally, and Aboriginal people living with HIV/AIDS in particular.⁷⁰

Aboriginal people working in the field of HIV/AIDS are concerned about the impact of transfer initiatives on HIV/AIDS services for Aboriginal people. Art Zoccole, Project Coordinator of the B.C. Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Task Force, notes that there is concern that HIV issues will end up at the bottom of the list of band priorities due to homophobia and AIDSphobia, the extent of social and health problems confronting many communities, and limited resources.⁷¹

Despite arguments against transfer, the RCAP Commissioners state that they are "singularly impressed with the extent to which health programs in communities that have participated in transfer initiatives increasingly reflect Aboriginal priorities." The experience of the Swampy Cree Tribal Council, one of the first transfer communities, is enlightening:

[W]e entered the transfer process – but with our eyes wide open. We saw transfer as a way to achieve some of our objectives and we felt we could look after ourselves in dealing with government. We still feel that way.⁷³

[W]e suggest that health transfer be recognized for what it is. It is not a solution to all the health problems we face in the communities. It is only administrative control. Once that fact is accepted, we can get on with pursuing other objectives to resolve our health needs in other ways.⁷⁴

Although health transfer represents an opportunity for First Nations governments to achieve self-determination and control in health care, the concerns of Aboriginal HIV/AIDS experts should not be ignored. Despite the inconsistency with self-government, one Aboriginal person working in the HIV/AIDS field supports non-discretionary funding for HIV/AIDS work as

⁷⁰ Report on the Future Management of the Non-Insured Health Benefits Program, Vol. 1. Ottawa: Assembly of First Nations, 1996, para 5(d) at 57.

⁷¹ Personal communication with Art Zoccole, 10 August 1997. Medical expenses for Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS in more remote areas would likely be particularly high. The amount of money set aside for HIV for Aboriginal people is not based on an evaluation of the minimum required for an effective HIV/AIDS program.

⁷² Supra, note 15, vol 3 at 250.

⁷³ G Connell et al. Implementing Primary Health Care Through Community Control: The Experience of the Swampy Cree Tribal Council. *Circumpolar Health 90*, supra, note 58 at 44.

⁷⁴ Ibid at 46.

a component of the health transfer process. This person went on to say that the best scenario would be one in which First Nations deal with HIV in a holistic and caring fashion in accordance with Aboriginal traditions.

D. PROBLEMS CREATED BY JURISDICTIONAL DIVISIONS

In addition to the concerns raised by those consulted regarding ongoing jurisdictional realignment of health-care services in Canada, a number of specific problems with jurisdictional divisions can be gleaned from the consultations and from other sources. These are: (1) funding problems, and (2) barriers to coordination and collaboration.

1. Funding Problems

Some of the problems experienced by Aboriginal organizations in the area of funding for HIV/AIDS services are similar to those experienced by other organizations working in the same field. Many organizations are underfunded and certain groups receive a disproportionately low share of funding. One Aboriginal person consulted for this paper suggested that Aboriginal HIV/AIDS funding often emerges as an afterthought or it is based on needs and policies developed for non-Aboriginal groups.

Complicating the provision of HIV/AIDS services is the history of oppression and racism experienced by Aboriginal people since European contact. "There is no lack of data describing the disproportionate burden of illness suffered by the Aboriginal peoples." It is within the context of poor health and cultural upheaval that an analysis of the impact of jurisdictional divisions on the provision of HIV/AIDS services for Aboriginal people must be approached.

(1) Adequacy of Funding

The adequacy of funding for HIV/AIDS services for Aboriginal people varies substantially across the country. Funding levels often depend on the participation of provincial governments in the support of Aboriginal services and on the availability of Aboriginal AIDS experts to lobby for support. The variability of funding levels to support Aboriginal programs

⁷⁵ John D O'Neill, Brian D Postl. Community Healing and Aboriginal Self-Government: Is the Circle Closing? *Aboriginal Self-Government in Canada.* John Hylton, ed. Saskatoon: Purich Publishing, 1994, at 67. See also RCAP. *The Path to Healing.* Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada, 1993.

may be seen in a comparison of the situations in Ontario and in some of the Maritime provinces.

The government of Ontario has supported Aboriginal HIV/AIDS initiatives through the establishment of the Aboriginal Health Office and the development of such projects as the Ontario Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy. Further, the province has not allowed jurisdictional distinctions to undermine the seriousness of AIDS issues. The provincial AIDS Bureau accepts proposals from on- and off-reserve sources and supports the Ontario Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy. Currently, the Ontario Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy employs a Provincial Coordinator and an equivalent of 6.5 full-time workers throughout the province. In addition, the AIDS Bureau funds an AIDS Educator in each of the four Political Territorial Organizations on reserve.⁷⁶

The current government has so far maintained funding levels for HIV/AIDS work. In contrast, the governments in Nova Scotia and New Brunswick do not contribute any funding for projects designed specifically for Aboriginal people.

Due to the extent of health and social problems affecting Aboriginal people, LaVerne Monette, Provincial Coordinator of the Ontario Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy, notes that there will probably never be enough funding to overcome all of the risk factors for HIV/AIDS among Aboriginal people. Certainly, resources need to be used effectively and efficiently. One person consulted for this paper suggested that more education and the galvanization of leadership support for HIV/AIDS initiatives, within both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal sectors, would help ensure effective use of HIV/AIDS resources.

The experience of a number of First Nations that have implemented community-based health-care initiatives supports the view that "any community has the power to heal itself":

We sometimes fail to recognize our own strengths and the resources we have in our own communities ... if we allow ourselves vision and the ability to listen and care, we will find these strengths in ourselves and others.⁷⁸

Although it is true that contributing more money to a problem is not necessarily a solution, the consensus among most people consulted for the paper is that funding for HIV/AIDS projects for Aboriginal people is inadequate. Further, the problem is likely to get worse as the

⁷⁶ Written submission from Darcy Albert on behalf of TPFN, dated 13 November 1997, in response to the draft discussion paper. It should be noted that it was not the present government of Ontario that implemented these initiatives.

⁷⁷ Personal communication with LaVerne Monette, 16 July 1997.

⁷⁸ Heather Clayton. Indian Health and Community Development: Notes for an Address. *Circumpolar Health* 90, supra, note 58 at 42.

number of cases of HIV infection and AIDS rises and demands on the health-care system escalate. Kevin Barlow estimates that funding allocated by MSB for HIV/AIDS work for a band of 2000 is in the range of \$4000 to \$5000, barely enough for minimal education and prevention initiatives, let alone care, treatment and support. PExpecting small amounts of money to effect change is shortsighted. Consistent long-term funding is required to sustain existing Aboriginal AIDS organizations and initiatives and to develop viable solutions.

It has been suggested that the government has a problem in justifying high expenditures for HIV/AIDS because more people die of other diseases. Further, some argue that the Canadian public is not prepared to accept increased funding for Aboriginal people. When RCAP released its final report, the government and media deflected attention away from the document by concentrating on the funding issue. In response to such views, Kevin Barlow notes that mainstream society does not appreciate the extent of the poor health conditions experienced by First Nations people and Inuit. With regard to funding HIV/AIDS services for Aboriginal people, Barlow emphasizes that ignoring HIV now will result in a more rapid spread of the virus and increased costs in the future. Support for health care makes good financial and ethical sense and is, above all, necessary.

In light of the foregoing, the commitment made by the federal government to Aboriginal HIV/AIDS issues in Phase III of NAS is encouraging.

(2) Sources of Funding

As discussed above, there are a number of sources for HIV/AIDS funding:

- (1) Aboriginal AIDS organizations can apply for provincial funding, but the level of funding available varies widely between provinces. Some provinces take the position that no Aboriginal-specific programs need to be supported by the province because Aboriginal programs fall under federal jurisdiction or because mainstream programs and facilities are available to Aboriginal people.
- (2) As discussed earlier, MSB does not provide services to Aboriginal people living off reserve. Off-reserve Aboriginal organizations can apply to ACAP for project funding, but must do so in competition with mainstream HIV/AIDS organizations.

⁷⁹ Personal communication with Kevin Barlow, 8 August 1997.

⁸⁰ Ibid.

(3) Many off-reserve Aboriginal AIDS organizations receive no core funding to sustain their activities and must rely exclusively on project funding from ACAP. Catherine Spence notes that the Thompson AIDS Project began its work on a volunteer basis and reverted to volunteer status during the time between a grant for a needs assessment and approval of a one-year community development budget.⁸¹

The fact that funding for HIV/AIDS services and programs comes from a variety of sources can hinder the development of community-driven AIDS organizations, particularly during the early stages of growth. Before a new organization is firmly entrenched, time and effort can be lost in the pursuit of appropriate contacts and funds rather than productively engaged in the work for which the organization is designed.⁸²

Other concerns about sources of funding raised by those consulted for this paper include the following:

Due to the absence of a peer review process, as required for ACAP funding, CTSP and APP have the ability to respond quickly and directly to funding requests. However, there is a perception that personal relationships between fund decision-makers and organizations or individuals influence which projects are supported.

AIDS workers often have expertise in social work and counselling but not in administration, proposal writing and fundraising.

Funding is a big problem in Northern and remote communities. Travel budgets in an area like Baffin Island can make projects involving travel between communities virtually impossible to support financially.

Funding priorities and formulas are often based on the interests of mainstream AIDS organizations and do not reflect Aboriginal issues.

Initiatives are often confined by the source of funding. An ACAP-funded project is restricted to off-reserve activities, while an MSB project only extends to reserve residents. The Aboriginal community of Canada is highly mobile; people travel frequently back and forth between reserve or rural communities and the city as well as between cities. Artificial

⁸¹ Supra, note 59.

⁸² Art Zoccole, Project Coordinator of the B.C. Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Task Force, reported (personal communication, 17 July 1997) that many organizations in British Columbia have yet to take advantage of ACAP funds despite the fact that Phase II of NAS has entered its final year. One organization, Healing Our Spirit, has had some success with corporate funding (personal communication with Catherine Blackstock, Executive Director, Healing Our Spirit B.C. First Nations AIDS Society, 18 September 1997).

boundaries between HIV/AIDS programs are detrimental to the development of comprehensive, culturally appropriate health services.

Recognizing the need to overcome jurisdictional barriers, the various branches of Health Canada involved in HIV/AIDS programs and funding are increasingly attempting to coordinate efforts. For example, CAAN receives funding from MSB and from ACAP. This allows it to work around jurisdictional divisions between on- and off-reserve communities.

2. Barriers to Coordination and Collaboration

(1) Divisions between Federal and Provincial Governments

The jurisdictional divisions between federal and provincial governments have been described earlier and mentioned throughout the paper.

In its report on the National Round Table on Urban Aboriginal Issues, RCAP heard many submissions identifying jurisdiction as one of the most pervasive issues for Aboriginal people. Jurisdictional divisions between provincial and federal governments give rise to a policy vacuum in which many Aboriginal people find no culturally appropriate services.

Presenters at the round table reported frequently that applications for services result in their being shuffled from one level of government to another and served by none. Lobbying to upgrade provincial services for Aboriginal people often meets the response that the federal government is trying to off-load its responsibilities to the provinces.⁸³

Territoriality issues between provincial and federal governments can seriously hamper the coordination of efforts at controlling the spread of HIV/AIDS among Aboriginal people. One person consulted for this paper suggested that long-term solutions to jurisdictional divisions will require individuals at a high level within each government to show leadership and vision to initiate coordination. Another person suggested that, in the end, jurisdictional divisions are entrenched in the Constitution and will always be a barrier to effective programs for Aboriginal people.

Although this may be true, federal and provincial ministries involved in HIV/AIDS issues and Aboriginal governments must take seriously calls for coordination by Aboriginal people working in the field. RCAP supports "cooperative, coordinated action by the government of Canada, the provinces and territories, and Aboriginal nations," and recommends that

⁸³ Supra, note 68 at 5.

governments should institute a framework for discussion of Aboriginal issues, with a view to establishing collaborative measures to resolve problems.⁸⁴

If governments in Canada do take RCAP's recommendations seriously, it is important that HIV/AIDS issues be on the agenda for discussion. It would be encouraging if a strategy to collaborate across jurisdictions to deal with HIV/AIDS issues for Aboriginal people emerged as a "test" initiative of the ability of federal, provincial, territorial and Aboriginal governments to cooperate.

(2) Interdepartmental Barriers

A number of departments in the federal government have responsibilities that relate to Aboriginal people and HIV/AIDS: MSB and other services in Health Canada, Indian and Northern Affairs Canada, and Correctional Services Canada all have important roles in a coordinated HIV/AIDS strategy. One Aboriginal person consulted for this paper argued that the federal government relies too heavily on Health Canada to set the agenda and to respond in the area of HIV/AIDS. Aboriginal people favour a holistic approach to health problems. Such an approach is facilitated by interdepartmental coordination.

Barriers to interdepartmental coordination identified during the consultation process include the following:

There are barriers within departments. For example, one person suggested there is a perception within Health Canada that it is hard to get clarity and resolution in files dealing with Aboriginal issues. Further, it was suggested that it often seems difficult to get action at the political and interjurisdictional level.

Interdepartmental coordination depends a lot on the working relationships between individuals. Personnel changes can therefore destabilize evolving connections. Once a working relationship takes hold between individuals working in different departments, efforts at coordination can still be stymied by a breakdown in the relationship at a higher level of bureaucracy.

Departments other than Health Canada may not perceive the importance of their role in HIV/AIDS issues.

⁸⁴ Supra, note 15, vol 5 at 10-11. See RCAP's Recommendation 5.1.1.

(3) Divisions among Aboriginal People

The imposition of legislated definitions has created divisions among Aboriginal people. For example, since 1985 First Nations people have been defined pursuant to the *Indian Act* as status, non-status, and Bill C-31 ("reinstated") Indians. Bill C-31 Indians are further defined depending on whether they regained status under s 6(1) or 6(2) of the *Indian Act*.

Jurisdictional distinctions divide the Aboriginal community against itself in many ways: reserve governments are divided against organizations representing off-reserve Aboriginal people, while the various representatives of off-reserve people compete among themselves for the leadership of the large off-reserve constituency. In addition, Métis organizations fight for the recognition of Métis people, and Inuit organizations seek action on problems in the North.

The competition between on- and off-reserve organizations that arises due to jurisdictional distinctions is compounded by the fact that the funding allocated to a First Nation is often dependent on the population of the reserve. A number of people interviewed expressed concern that it is not uncommon for a band to include members of the community living off reserve in its assessment of need for funding purposes, but to restrict the provision of services to those band members who are ordinarily resident on the reserve.

The off-reserve Aboriginal community also contains diverse interests. Off-reserve people are represented by a number of sometimes cooperative, but often competing, organizations. ⁸⁵ For example, it is estimated that 60,000 Aboriginal people live in Toronto but there is no single organization representing their interests. A number of broad-based organizations such as the Native Canadian Centre of Toronto and the Ontario Federation of Indian Friendship Centres as well as more narrowly focused groups like TPFN are driven to compete both for funding and for participation in decision-making, sometimes at the expense of their collective strength.

Clearly, the Aboriginal community is not homogeneous; it consists of a rich diversity of cultures and traditions. Mary Ellen Turpel notes that the term "Indian" as defined by the federal government in the Indian Act is an alien one, "a term of the colonizers." Turpel argues that the word "Indian" denies and effaces the diversity of Aboriginal peoples who have been "Indianized" "or classified by the government for administrative purposes" and "racialized" "as minorities."

⁸⁵ For an example that went to trial, see *Re Native Women's Association of Canada and the Queen* (1992), 95 DLR (4th) 106. NWAC argued that the interests of Aboriginal women were not represented by the Assembly of First Nations and that NWAC should have a seat at the table for the constitutional negotiations that ended in the Charlottetown Accord.

⁸⁶ Mary Ellen Turpel. Patriarchy and Paternalism: The Legacy of the Canadian State for First Nations Women. Canadian Journal of Women and the Law 1993; 6: 173 at 178.

An important aspect of the revitalization of Aboriginal communities involves the reawakening of cultural traditions and the expression of self-definitions by First Nations people, Métis and Inuit. Self-naming is an important part of the healing process. For Aboriginal gay and lesbian people, self-naming involves a rejection of the disparaging terms for homosexuality imposed by Western culture in favour of the concept of two-spiritedness, which captures traditional views about sexuality.⁸⁷

Aboriginal people are casting off false definitions and stereotypes that have been imposed on them. They have resurrected practices that were forced underground by racism and the law. It is time to respect the diversity of Aboriginal cultures and allow self-naming without a loss of services. It is also important to recognize the links between individuals living in cities and those living on the reserve. Inappropriate jurisdictional distinctions efface diversity and divide community.

E. OVERCOMING JURISDICTIONAL BARRIERS

The need for coordination of Aboriginal HIV/AIDS programs and services has been repeatedly identified by First Nations and other Aboriginal communities and organizations. One person consulted for this paper argued that Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS should not have to spend their time solving jurisdictional issues.

There is an increasing recognition within federal departments working on HIV/AIDS issues that jurisdictional barriers diminish the effectiveness of HIV/AIDS programs.⁸⁸ It was suggested by one person during consultations for the paper that although the need for coordination has been recognized for some time, HIV/AIDS issues have served to solidify support for coordination and increase the urgency around such initiatives.

⁸⁷ Based on notes taken at a workshop delivered by Terry Tafoya, Native American storyteller and psychologist, Bereavement and Multiple Loss, presented by the AIDS Committee of Toronto HIV Mental Health Group, 3 June 1994. Traditionally, two-spirited people occupied important roles and revered positions in Aboriginal communities as health-care workers, teachers and shamans. "Two-spirited" is a term that refers to vision, respect and social roles, not just sexuality. For more on two-spiritedness, see Susan Beaver. We Are Part of a Tradition: Report to RCAP by TPFN, 25 June 1992; and Will Roscoe, ed. *Living the Spirit: A Gay American Indian Anthology*. New York: St. Martin's Press, 1988.

⁸⁸ See, for example, Indian and Northern Health Services Directorate. *Interjurisdictional Coordination on HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal Populations: Issues and Approaches*. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada, 1995.

A number of initiatives that seek to improve the coordination of HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal people are discussed below.

1. Working Groups

One approach is to promote coordination through working groups. A description of some such initiatives follows.

The purpose of the Departmental Aboriginal AIDS Committee (DAAC) is to share information about HIV/AIDS projects for Aboriginal people and to develop coordinated approaches where possible. DAAC involves representatives from MSB, CTSP, PCAP, and LCDC as well as an MSB field person and ACAP regional representative. Meeting every six to eight weeks, the group attempts to generate interdepartmental discussion and action. In the end, however, each branch within Health Canada is independent and continues to work on its own. ⁸⁹ The group does not include any nongovernmental representatives.

Another partnership initiative is the MSB HIV/AIDS Focus Group. This group consists of representatives of fifteen Aboriginal organizations, including some Aboriginal AIDS organizations and health centres, and regional and national representatives of MSB. The group discusses HIV/AIDS issues affecting Aboriginal people within the MSB mandate and can have some influence on MSB policymaking.

Examples of initiatives at the provincial level are the HIV/AIDS coordinating committees of Alberta, British Columbia and Manitoba. Alberta's Committee on HIV/AIDS (formerly known as the Multi-Agency Committee on Aboriginal AIDS) includes representatives of provincial, federal and municipal government organizations, First Nations and other Aboriginal organizations, and nongovernmental organizations concerned with HIV/AIDS in Aboriginal populations. The Committee focuses on all Aboriginal populations in Alberta.⁹⁰

The B.C. Aboriginal AIDS Focus Group and the Manitoba Regional HIV/AIDS Steering Committee are somewhat more limited in focus than the Alberta Committee. The function of the BC Focus Group is to promote information sharing and advice to MSB. The Manitoba Steering Committee includes representatives of offreserve interests but is also focused on the MSB mandate.⁹¹

⁸⁹ Information from personal communication with Health Canada staff, 5 August 1997.

⁹⁰ See supra, note 88 at 5-7 and supra, note 49 at 15.

⁹¹ See supra, note 88 at 5-7.

Although these examples suggest that the need to form partnerships is being recognized, it is important to note the limitations in these groups. The first group involves the exchange of information and a degree of policy and program coordination but is an internal partnership only; the second includes Aboriginal representatives but only deals with issues within the MSB mandate; the mandate of two of the three provincial committees is also limited in scope.

Finally, suspicion about government partnership initiatives was expressed by some of those consulted. One person suggested such initiatives are window dressing and do not make much difference to policy and funding decisions. The AFN has been critical of Health Canada for involving Aboriginal representatives in consultations, only to proceed with decision-making unilaterally.⁹²

Interdepartmental and multi-agency partnership initiatives should involve Aboriginal people in decision-making in a substantive way, and include consideration of HIV/AIDS issues on a multijurisdictional level.

2. Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategies

A second approach to reducing the impact of jurisdictional barriers is through Aboriginal HIV/AIDS strategies. Currently, three provinces have or are developing such strategies: Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia.

After a number of years of discussion and planning, in 1994 the first comprehensive strategy to deal with issues related to HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal people was implemented. The Ontario Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy (Ontario Strategy) is a joint initiative between the Aboriginal community and the Ontario Ministry of Health and is an improvement in coordination of HIV/AIDS programs and services based on the following goal:

To design, develop and deliver a comprehensive plan for an effective and accessible continuum of physical, mental, emotional and spiritual care, support, training and education for Aboriginal individuals, families and communities living with and/or affected by HIV/AIDS directly or indirectly, regardless of residency.⁹³

The focus of the Ontario Strategy is on Aboriginal community-based design, development and delivery of services and programs that are Aboriginal-directed. The promotion of networking,

⁹² See AFN reports, supra, notes 64 and 70.

⁹³ Ontario Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy. Toronto: The Strategy, 1996, at 33.

coordination and sharing of information and resources is one of the principles of the initiative.⁹⁴

One shortfall of the Ontario Strategy is that it did not succeed in uniting on- and off-reserve interests. During the planning stages, representatives of reserve communities refused to join in the design of a multijurisdictional strategy. As a result, the mandate of Ontario Strategy workers does not extend to reserve communities.

In 1995, a strategy was initiated in Alberta. The Alberta Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy (Alberta Strategy) has been able to attract the support of representatives of both on- and off-reserve communities. Significantly, the Chiefs of Alberta signed a resolution in support of the general principles of the initiative, one of which is increased involvement of community leaders.⁹⁵

The purpose of the Alberta Strategy is to "develop a program plan for the collaborative delivery of HIV/AIDS prevention services to [A]boriginal peoples across Alberta." Further, the Alberta Strategy encourages and assists Aboriginal communities to collaborate with one another and with HIV/AIDS agencies and other health agencies in developing programs. The three project coordinators are from the Alberta regional office of MSB, from Alberta Health, and from the Aboriginal community.

Like the Ontario Strategy, the Alberta Strategy emphasizes Aboriginal control. A central focus of the Alberta Strategy is to assist communities to develop activities related to HIV/AIDS based on the community's identification of its roles and responsibilities respecting HIV/AIDS prevention, care, treatment and support.

A concern with the Alberta Strategy is that its long-term effectiveness may be limited by a short time frame. It is unclear what will happen after the budget runs out in the spring of 1998. Constant changes in Alberta Health and a narrow-minded approach to HIV/AIDS issues by the Alberta government may ultimately detract from the success of the project.⁹⁷

⁹⁴ Ibid, Principle 6 at 34.

⁹⁵ Personal communication with Marion Perrin, Regional Nurse Epidemiologist with MSB and a Project Coordinator of the Alberta Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy, 28 July 1997.

⁹⁶ Project for the Development of a Collaborative Strategy to Prevent the Spread of HIV Among Aboriginal Peoples in Alberta. Fax received from Marion Perrin, 31 July 1997.

⁹⁷ The Government of Alberta recently decided not to complete a provincial AIDS strategy that had been in the works, and disbanded its AIDS unit within Alberta Health. HIV/AIDS work will now be done in piecemeal fashion on an ad hoc basis.

The newest strategy is currently under development in British Columbia. The B.C. Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy (BC Strategy) seeks to overcome the jurisdictional barriers that weaken the Ontario Strategy and establish a long term framework for HIV work involving Aboriginal communities. One objective of the BC Strategy is to "[i]dentify and address program and service overlap, duplication and gaps to develop means of better utilizing all resources and encourage the building of teams and partnerships." There is a strong commitment on the part of the project coordinator to make this an Aboriginal-designed strategy that is relevant to Aboriginal people wherever they live in the province.

Although the B.C. Strategy has received wide support, early consultations concerning the development of the project are hampered by a lack of funding to assist participation in meetings by representatives of First Nations, Aboriginal AIDS organizations, and other organizations and individuals involved in Aboriginal HIV/AIDS issues throughout the province.⁹⁹

3. Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network

Another initiative that seeks to improve coordination of efforts around HIV/AIDS in Aboriginal communities is the Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network (CAAN), a national organization with a membership that includes Aboriginal AIDS organizations, other nongovernmental AIDS organizations with a significant Aboriginal component, Aboriginal people living with HIV/AIDS and others involved in HIV/AIDS work with Aboriginal people.

CAAN's focus is broad: it acts as a national voice on HIV/AIDS issues affecting Inuit, Métis, and status and non-status First Nations people, regardless of place of residence. The Network attempts to strengthen the capacity of Aboriginal organizations and communities to respond to HIV/AIDS by coordinating activities, lobbying federal, provincial and Aboriginal governments and departments, and promoting the significance of HIV/AIDS issues for Aboriginal people.

The precursor to CAAN was the National Aboriginal PHA Network, an organization for Aboriginal people living with HIV/AIDS founded in 1994 that has since merged with CAAN. Some funding was received by CAAN after 1994 for specific projects, including a joint project with the Canadian AIDS Society. Finally, CAAN incorporated as a nonprofit organization in the spring of 1997 and opened its office in Ottawa in July.

Despite the important role played by CAAN and the extent of the work that needs to be undertaken, it does not receive core funding and has only two full-time staff, the National

⁹⁸ B.C. Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Task Force. Workplan 1997-98, by Art Zoccole, July 1997, at 3.

⁹⁹ Supra, note 82.

Coordinator and one part-time administrative assistant. In order for CAAN to survive and develop, it will require more financial support.¹⁰⁰

F. CONCLUSIONS

No group in Canada deals with jurisdictional divisions as much as Aboriginal people. The spread of HIV/AIDS in Aboriginal communities across jurisdictional boundaries has focused attention on the need to reduce the impact of these boundaries on the development and delivery of HIV/AIDS programs and services. This paper seeks to draw attention to the ways in which jurisdiction affects HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal people.

Based on the research and consultations conducted during the process of this paper, a number of conclusions have been drawn:

1. Federal and provincial governments must recognize and affirm their responsibilities derived from the historical relationship between Canada and First Nations, Métis people and Inuit. These responsibilities are owed to all Aboriginal people, whether on or off reserve, status or non-status, Métis or Inuit, and include responsibilities in the area of health care and HIV/AIDS. The commitment made to Aboriginal HIV/AIDS issues by the federal government in the Renewed AIDS Strategy is encouraging.

This is a time of transition and renewal for Aboriginal communities. The following changes are significant:

- (a) The devolution of authority over certain matters to the provinces.
- (b) The development of self-government giving rise to a third order of government with its own powers and responsibilities.
- (c) The transfer of jurisdiction over health issues to Aboriginal communities.

During this period of transition, issues related to HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal people must be addressed. Aboriginal AIDS organizations and Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS should be given opportunities to participate in the process of renewal.

2. Regionalization of health care authority has been adopted by many provinces and territories in Canada as part of cost-cutting efforts. During this process, it is important that

¹⁰⁰ Information about CAAN based on personal communication with Kevin Barlow, 23 July 1997.

HIV/AIDS services be uniformly and comprehensively available and that HIV/AIDS issues be a priority for regional health authorities. A mechanism to ensure coordination of HIV/AIDS programs and services should be part of any regionalization scheme.

- 3. Regional programs and services within provincial and territorial jurisdictions must reflect and respect the needs and traditions of Aboriginal people.
- 4. In many ways, health transfer has been positive for First Nations communities; the process has increased Aboriginal control over health care and has facilitated the development of programs and services based on Aboriginal needs and traditions. However, many people consulted for this paper also expressed concern about the impact of health transfer on HIV/AIDS issues. These issues must be a priority in the health transfer process. Aboriginal AIDS organizations and Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS must be consulted as to how this can be accomplished. Further, health transfer initiatives should not result in a reduction in culturally appropriate programs and services for Aboriginal people living off reserve.
- 5. The funding available for HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal people was generally seen to be inadequate by those consulted, particularly in the face of rising rates of infection, and of care, treatment and support costs. Funding levels must reflect an assessment of the actual costs of administering and delivering programs and services and must be based on long-term consistent objectives and a recognition of rising costs.
- 6. Funding for Aboriginal AIDS initiatives is available from a variety of sources, including MSB, ACAP, and, in some cases, provincial AIDS bureaus. Aboriginal AIDS organizations and service providers must share information and assist each other in locating funds. Further, government agencies and departments must coordinate their activities and services to reduce the impact of jurisdictional barriers on Aboriginal HIV/AIDS program and service delivery.
- 7. Jurisdictional problems have contributed to divisions between provincial and federal governments, interdepartmental barriers, and divisions between Aboriginal people. A number of initiatives are under way that focus on improving collaboration and coordination, reducing service gaps, and increasing efficiency: interdepartmental working groups, national focus groups and provincial coordinating committees are all important developments in the response to HIV/AIDS. These initiatives are reinforced by substantive Aboriginal participation in discussion and decision-making.
- 8. Another important initiative in the coordination of efforts are the provincial Aboriginal HIV/AIDS strategies. Following the example of Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia, with the support and participation of the Aboriginal community, each province and territory should develop a comprehensive Aboriginal HIV/AIDS strategy. Such strategies must be based on principles of Aboriginal design and control. Further, such strategies should seek to overcome

interprovincial/territorial differences in the availability of culturally appropriate HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal people, while respecting the distinctive needs and traditions of the First Nations, Métis, and Inuit within the scope of each strategy.

9. CAAN has given Aboriginal AIDS organizations and Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS a national voice in Canada. CAAN needs more long-term funding in order to carry out the important role it has undertaken. CAAN should be consulted as to the need for and design of a national Aboriginal HIV/AIDS strategy.

HIV/AIDS presents a challenge to federal, provincial, territorial and First Nations, Métis and Inuit governments: to overcome jurisdictional barriers that frustrate the development of coordinated health services for Aboriginal people. Aboriginal AIDS organizations and Aboriginal people living with or affected by HIV/AIDS are experts in the development and delivery of HIV/AIDS programs and services for Aboriginal people. It is to them that governments should look for guidance in developing sustainable, comprehensive and collaborative responses to HIV.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

I. Legislation

Indian Act. R.S.C. 1985, c. I-5.

Constitution Act, 1867 (U.K.), 30 & 31 Vict. c.3.

Constitution Act, 1982, being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (U.K.), 1982, c. 11.

Royal Proclamation, 1763 R.S.C. 1985, App. II, No. 1.

II. Cases

Calder v. British Columbia. (1973) 34 D.L.R. (3d) 145 (S.C.C.)

Corbiere v. Canada (Minister of Indian and Northern Affairs) (1996), 206 N.R. 85 (Fed.Crt.App.).

Dick v. the Queen [1985] 2 S.C.R. 309.

R. v. Pamajewon [1996] 4 C.N.L.R. 164 (S.C.C.)

R. v. Sparrow [1990] 1 S.C.R. 1075.

R. v. Van der Peet [1996] 4 C.N.L.R. 177 (S.C.C.)

Re. Eskimos. [1939] 2 D.L.R. 417 (S.C.C.)

Re. Native Womens' Association of Canada and the Queen. (1992) 95 D.L.R. (4th) 106 (Fed.C.A.)

III. Reports and Policy Statements

AIDS Community Action Program. Funding Guidelines. Ottawa: Health Canada, undated.

B.C. Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Task Force. Workplan 1997-1998. By the Project Coordinator, July 1997.

Community Health Representatives Scope of Duties: Final Report of the Working Group. Ottawa: Medical Services Branch, December 1993.

First Nations Health Commission. Bridging the Gap: report on the National Round Table on HIV/AIDS and First Nations Populations. Ottawa: Assembly of First Nations, 1994.

First Nations Health Secretariat. Background Paper for the 18th Annual General Assembly. Ottawa: Assembly of First Nations, July 1997.

Healing Our Nations: Proceedings of the 4th Canadian Aboriginal Conference on HIV/AIDS and Related Issues. November 9-13, 1996.

Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. Aboriginal Self-Government: The Government of Canada's Approach to Implementation of the Inherent Right and the Negotiation of Aboriginal Self-Government. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada, 1995.

Indian and Northern Health Services Directorate. *Interjurisdictional Coordination on HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal Populations: Issues and Approaches*. Ottawa: Medical Services Branch, January 1995.

Joint National Committee on Aboriginal AIDS Education and Prevention Findings Document. Ottawa: Health and Welfare Canada, 1990.

Laboratory Centre for Disease Control. Epi Update. Ottawa: Health Canada, May 1997.

McLeod, Albert. Aboriginal Communities and HIV/AIDS, a joint project with the Canadian AIDS Society and the Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network: Final Report. Ottawa: Canadian AIDS Society, 1997.

Myers, Ted, Liviana Calzavara, et al. Ontario First Nations AIDS and Healthy Lifestyle Survey. Toronto, 1993.

National AIDS Strategy, Phase II: Building on Progress. Ottawa: Health and Welfare Canada, 1993.

National AIDS Strategy, Phase II: Progress Report 1995-96. Ottawa: Health and Welfare Canada, 1996.

Ontario Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy. By the Strategy, 1996.

Population Health Directorate. National AIDS Strategy, Phase II: Projects Funded by the Care, Treatment and Support Program, Status Report as of December 15, 1996. Ottawa: Health Canada, 1997.

Population Health Directorate. National AIDS Strategy, Phase II: Projects Funded by the HIV/AIDS Prevention Program, Status Report as of June 30, 1996. Ottawa: Health Canada, 1996.

Report on the Future Management of the Non-Insured Health Benefits Program. Ottawa: Assembly of First Nations and Health Canada, 1996.

Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples (RCAP). Aboriginal Peoples in Urban Centres: Report of the National Round Table on Urban Aboriginal Issues. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada, 1993.

RCAP. Final Report. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services, 1996.

RCAP. The Path to Healing: Report of the National Round Table on Aboriginal Health and Social Issues. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada, 1993.

Spence, Catherine and Janet McGee. Thompson AIDS Project: Needs Assessment. Thompson: By the Project, October 1996.

IV. Books and Articles

Bird, L. and M. Moore. "The William Charles Health Centre of Montreal Lake Band: A Case Study of Transfer". Circumpolar Health 90: Proceedings of the 8th International Congress on Circumpolar Health. Brian D. Postl et al. (eds.). Winnipeg: University of Manitoba Press, 1991, 47-49.

Cipparone, Eugene. "A Case Study on Interest Group Behaviour in a Federal System: The AIDS Lobby Groups in Canada". *Toronto Faculty of Law Review* 1992; 50(2): 131-160.

Clayton, Heather. "Indian Health and Community Development: Notes for an Address". Circumpolar Health 90, supra., 42-43.

Connell, G., R. Flett and P. Stewart. "Implementing Primary Health Care Through Community Control: The Experience of Swampy Cree Tribal Council". *Circumpolar Health* 90, supra., 44-46.

Hawley, Donna Lea. Annotated Indian Act 1997. Toronto: Carswell, 1996.

Hogg, Peter, and Mary Ellen Turpel. "Implementing Aboriginal Self-Government: Constitutional and Jurisdictional Issues". *The Canadian Bar Review* 1995; 74(2): 187-224.

Hogg, Peter. Constitutional Law of Canada, 3rd Ed. Toronto: Carswell, 1992.

Isaac, Thomas. "Case Commentary: Self-Government, Indian Women and their Rights of Reinstatement under the *Indian Act*, a Comment on *Sawridge Band v. Canada*". Canadian Native Law Reporter 1995; 4: 1-13.

Matiation, Stefan. "HIV/AIDS and Aboriginal Communities: Problems of Jurisdiction and Discrimination". Unpublished paper, April 28, 1995.

O'Neill, John D. "Regional Health Boards and the Democratization of Health Care in the Northwest Territories". Circumpolar Health 90, supra., 50-53.

O'Neill, John D. and Brian D. Postl. "Community Healing and Aboriginal Self-Government: Is the Circle Closing?" *Aboriginal Self-Government in Canada*. John Hylton, ed. Saskatoon: Purich Publishing, 1994.

Pentney, William. "The Rights of the Aboriginal Peoples of Canada and the Constitution Act, 1982: Part I The Interpretive Prism of Section 25". U.B.C. Law Review 1988; 22(1): 21-59.

Slattery, Brian. "First Nations and the Constitution: A Question of Trust". *The Canadian Bar Review* 1992; 71: 261-293.

Speck, Dara Culhane. "The Indian Health Transfer Policy: A Step in the Right Direction or Revenge of the Hidden Agenda?" *Native Studies Review* 1989; 5(1): 187-213.

Turpel, Mary Ellen. "Patriarchy and Paternalism: The Legacy of the Canadian State for First Nations Women". CJWL 1993; 6: 173-192.

Woodward, Jack. Native Law. Toronto: Carswell, 1989.

APPENDIX

List of People Consulted

Tammy Abram Atlantic First Nations AIDS Task Force Halifax, Nova Scotia

Darcy Albert
2-Spirited Peoples of the 1st Nations
Toronto, Ontario

Marlene Allen Prince Albert STD Clinic Prince Albert, Saskatchewan

Barbara Ames AIDS Yukon Alliance Whitehorse, Yukon

Lina Azzimmaturo Chez Doris Montréal, Québec

Kevin Barlow Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network Ottawa, Ontario

Catherine Blackstock Healing Our Spirit BC First Nations AIDS Society North Vancouver, British Columbia

Cathie Carlick AIDS Yukon Alliance Whitehorse, Yukon

Joyce Courchene Community Health Representative Fort Alexander, Manitoba

Marcel Dubois Medical Services Branch Health Canada Ottawa, Ontario Janet Dunbrack
Care, Treatment and Support Program
HIV/AIDS Policy, Coordination and Programs Division
Health Canada
Ottawa, Ontario

Annie Evans Community Health Representative Labrador Inuit Health Commission Labrador

Arlo Yuzicapi Fayant All Nations Hope AIDS Network Regina, Saskatchewan

Roda Grey Pauktuutit Inuit Women's Health Association Ottawa, Ontario

Jimmy Groat Aboriginal Legal Services Toronto, Ontario

Derek Ground Barrister & Solicitor Toronto, Ontario

Robert Hay AIDS Yellowknife Yellowknife, NWT

Margaret Horn National Indian and Inuit Community Health Representatives Organization Kahnawake, Québec

Robert Imrie Cree Board of Health and Social Services of James Bay Montréal, Québec

Denise Lambert Alberta Aboriginal AIDSStrategy Onoway, Alberta Nathalie Lloyd Urban Aboriginal Awareness Project Montréal, Québec

Pat Matusko CDC Unit, Public Health Branch Manitoba Health Winnipeg, Manitoba

Albert McLeod Manitoba Aboriginal AIDS Task Force Winnipeg, Manitoba

LaVerne Monette
Ontario Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Strategy
Toronto, Ontario

Mai Nguyen Laboratory Centre for Disease Control Health Canada Ottawa, Ontario

Earl Nowgesic Laboratory Centre for Disease Control Health Canada Ottawa, Ontario

Marion Perrin Medical Services Branch Alberta Aboriginal AIDS Strategy Edmonton, Alberta

Judith D. Ross Medical Services Branch Health Canada Ottawa, Ontario

April St. Denis Manitoba Aboriginal AIDS Task Force Winnipeg, Manitoba

Catherine Spence Thompson AIDS Project Thompson, Manitoba Noelle Spotton Aboriginal Legal Services Toronto, Ontario

Christina Smeja Cree Board of Health and Social Services of James Bay Montréal, Québec

Cheryl Sutherland Assembly of First Nations Ottawa, Ontario

Brenda Thomas Assembly of First Nations Ottawa, Ontario

Art Zoccole
B.C. Aboriginal HIV/AIDS Task Force
Vancouver, British Columbia